
The Chair may call items on this Agenda, including the Call to the Public, out of the indicated order. Please contact Kathy 
Sekardi (602) 452-3253 or Nick Olm (602) 452-3134 with any questions concerning this agenda. Persons with a disability may 
request reasonable accommodations by contacting Julie Graber at (602) 452-3250. Please make requests as early as possible to 
allow time to arrange accommodations. 

Arizona Commission on Access to Justice 
Meeting Agenda  

May 18, 2016 - 10:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m.  
State Courts Building  1501 West Washington  Conference Room 119  Phoenix, Arizona 

Conference call-in number: 602-452-3288 Access code: 8680 
ACAJ WEBPAGE  WebEx link    

TIME   AGENDA ITEM PRESENTER 
10:00 a.m. Welcome and Opening Remarks 

  Approval of minutes from February 17, 2016 
 Formal Action/Request

Judge Lawrence F. Winthrop, 
Chair 

10:05 a.m. Chairperson’s report Judge Winthrop 

10:15 a.m. Report on Legal Services “triage” Program at ASU’s Law 
School 

Douglas Sylvester, 
Dean of ASU’s Sandra Day 

O’Connor School of Law 

10:45 a.m. Report on Civil Justice Reform Committee Don Bivens, 
Civil Justice Reform Committee 

Chair 

11:05 a.m. Report on Fair Justice for All Task Force Dave Byers, 
AOC Director and Chair of the 
Fair Justice for All Task Force 

11:25 a.m. Report from SRL-Family Court Workgroup

Update on FAQ/Response/Answer Handbook 

Judge Janet Barton, Maricopa 
County Presiding Judge 

Theresa Barrett, AOC staff 

   Lunch – 11:45 a.m.    

Page 1 of 57

* Pg. 3

* Pg. 11

* Pg. 13

* Pg. 15

* Pg. 17

* Pg. 19

http://www.azcourts.gov/cscommittees/ArizonaCommissiononAccesstoJustice.aspx
https://arizonacourts.webex.com/arizonacourts/j.php?MTID=m9a70a616f2960bb0057a848408649012
https://www.facebook.com/ArizonaSupremeCourt
https://twitter.com/AZCourts


The Chair may call items on this Agenda, including the Call to the Public, out of the indicated order. Please contact Kathy 
Sekardi (602) 452-3253 or Nick Olm (602) 452-3134 with any questions concerning this agenda. Persons with a disability may 
request reasonable accommodations by contacting Julie Graber at (602) 452-3250. Please make requests as early as possible to 
allow time to arrange accommodations. 

12:30 p.m. Report from SRL-Limited Jurisdiction Courts Workgroup 

 Update on Resources Sub-Workgroup

 Update on forms and instructions for landlord and
tenant matters

Judge Rachel Carrillo, SRL-
LJC Workgroup Chair 

Nick Olm, AOC staff 

Nick Olm, AOC staff 

o Discussion of “next steps”
 Formal Action/Request 

 Training for Judicial Officers/Staff

Mike Baumstark, AOC Deputy 
Director 

             Judge Winthrop 

1:00 p.m. Presentation on Rule Change Petition for Change of Judge (R-
16-0022) 

 Formal Action/Request

Ellen Katz, William E. Morris 
Institute for Justice, and 

Mark Meltzer, AOC Court 
Services Division Senior Court 

Policy Analyst 

1:20 p.m. Additional Chair Report Re:  Meeting with Joe Sciarrotta from 
the Attorney General’s Office 

Judge Winthrop 

1:30 p.m. Report from Pro Bono Service and Funding Workgroup 
 Formal Action/Request

Judge Joseph Kreamer, 
Pro Bono Service and Funding 

Workgroup Chair 

1:45 p.m. American Bar Association Telephone Workgroups Update Dr. Kevin Ruegg, AZFLSE 

1:55 p.m. Good of the Order / Call to the Public 
Adjournment 

Judge Winthrop 

2016 Meetings 
August 17 and November 9 

10:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. 
State Courts Building, Phoenix, Arizona 

Conference Room 119 

Follow the Arizona Supreme Court on Facebook and Twitter! 

TIME AGENDA ITEM PRESENTER 

Page 2 of 57

* Pg. 21

* Pg. 23

* Pg. 25

* Pg. 27

* Pg. 51

* Pg. 53

https://www.facebook.com/ArizonaSupremeCourt
https://twitter.com/AZCourts


1 

Arizona Commission on Access to Justice 
DRAFT MINUTES 
February 17, 2016 

10:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. 
State Courts Building, 1501 W. Washington Street 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

Present: Judge Lawrence Winthrop, Chair; Kip Anderson; Judge Janet Barton; Mike Baumstark; Judge 
Thomas Berning; Millie Cisneros; Judge Maria Elena Cruz; Steve Hirsch; Michael Jeanes; Judge Joseph 
Kreamer; Judge James Marner; John Phelps via his proxy Carrie Sherman; Janet Regner; Kevin Ruegg  

Telephonic: Judge James Marner; Anthony Young 

Absent: Judge Rachel Torres Carrillo; Ellen Katz; Michael Liburdi; Steve Seleznow; Lisa Urias 

Presenters/Guests: Arianna Cannady; Jeff Fine; Judge Dean Fink; Janet Fisher; Shawn Friend; Kevin 
Groman; Chris Groninger; Shawn Haught; Hana Martin; Noah Suhr; Kathy Schaben (Telephonic); Lara 
Slifko 

AOC Staff: Theresa Barrett; Julie Graber; Nick Olm; Kathy Sekardi 

I. REGULAR BUSINESS 

A. Welcome, Opening Remarks and Approval of Minutes 

With a quorum present, the February 17, 2016, meeting of the Arizona Commission on Access to 
Justice (ACAJ) was called to order by the Chair, Judge Larry Winthrop, at 10:05 a.m. 

Judge Winthrop introduced new commission member Steve Hirsch from Quarles and Brady LP. 
Judge Winthrop then recognized the reappointment of the following members to the Arizona 
Commission on Access to Justice: Judge Janet Barton, Ellen Katz, Judge James Marner, Janet 
Regner, and Anthony Young. Lastly, Judge Winthrop acknowledged the return of Janet Fisher to the 
Self-Represented Litigant in Family Court Workgroup and thanked Secretary of State Michelle 
Reagan and State Law Librarian Joan Clark for allowing Ms. Fisher’s return.  

Motion: Judge Kreamer moved to approve the November 18, 2015, minutes. Seconded: Judge 
Barton Vote: Unanimous. 

B. Chairperson’s Report on Presentations and Meetings 

Judge Winthrop thanked Lisa Urias, Kip Anderson, Janet Regner, and Judge Marner for making 
presentations to groups regarding the ACAJ initiatives and the Arizona Charitable Tax Credit. 

Action item: For this upcoming year, Judge Winthrop requested that every member of the 
Commission identify at least two groups to present to regarding the commission and its goals. 

Judge Winthrop reported that he plans to continue meeting with legislators to educate them about the 
Commission’s mission and how the mission affects legislators’ constituents. Judge Winthrop has 
already met with the Governor’s staff and Secretary of State Reagan who were very supportive and 
offered continuing support to the commission’s goals. Judge Winthrop further reported that a new 
committee was created by Chief Justice Bales: The Committee on Civil Justice Reform (CCJR). This 
committee’s purpose, per Administrative Order 2015-126, is “to develop recommendations, including 
rule amendments or pilot projects, to reduce the cost and time required to resolve civil cases in 

Page 3 of 57



 

2 
 

Arizona’s superior courts.” It was noted the CCJR’s work will likely intersect with the work of this 
commission in the future.  

Additional highlights included: 

 Dan Christensen was named the “In-House Counsel of the Year” by the Arizona Chapter of the 
Association of Corporate Counsel. 

 Maggie Kiel-Morse, member of the Self-Represented Litigants in Family Court workgroup and 
the Virtual Resource Center Task Force, has to relocate to Ohio for family reasons. Janet Fisher 
will fill Ms. Kiel-Morse’s role on a temporary basis, pending Ms. Kiel-Morse’s replacement 
being hired.  

 Future continuing education programs where access to justice will be included in the curriculum 
were announced at the American Bar Association (ABA) mid-year meeting.  

 Avvo, an online legal advisor marketplace that provides on-demand legal services by phone, is 
coming to Arizona.  

II. REPORT FROM SRL-FC WORKGROUP  

A. Maricopa County’s AmeriCorps Project 

Judge Dean Fink updated the Commission on the AmeriCorps program.  To date the Court has 
trained 34 AmeriCorps members to assist self-represented litigants. Judge Fink then introduced 
Shawn Haught and Shawn Friend who are managing the project. 

Ms. Friend noted that the 34 students are the equivalent of eight full time employees and staff the 
resource center from 7:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Many speak a second language; including Arabic, 
Spanish, and American Sign Language, which is an added value. Ms. Friend and Mr. Haught then 
introduced three current AmeriCorps members: Hannah Martin, Noah Suhr, and Arianna Cannady 
who spoke about their experiences in the program. Lastly, Ms. Friend shared that Maricopa County is 
now recruiting attorneys who will provide pro bono services at the Maricopa County Law 
Library/Self-Help Center.  

Ms. Friend and Mr. Haught fielded questions and offered to provide any information, tools, or advice 
to those jurisdictions that are looking into a program such as the AmeriCorps project. Ms. Friend 
informed members that they are using a system to track work completed by AmeriCorps members 
and there are also survey questionnaires given to self-represented litigants to track areas in which 
assistance is provided. Additionally, they are working with the court’s information technology 
department to track the time it takes for those who file dissolutions on their own versus those who 
solicited the services of AmeriCorps members to file dissolutions.  

Commission members thanked Ms. Friend, Mr. Haught and the AmeriCorps members for their work.  

B. Update on Law4AZ Training Programs 
 

Janet Fisher reported the Law4AZ Training Program has continued to train public library staff so that 
they are comfortable providing legal information to the public. Ms. Fisher further reported that Ms. 
Kiel-Morse worked diligently in the latter part of 2015 to meet with public library staff in the 
remaining nine counties that had not yet received this training. Before her departure, Ms. Kiel-Morse 
provided the two-part training to seven of the nine counties. Both of the training sessions were 
recorded and are available on the State Library’s blog site.  
 
Ms. Fisher then reported there was another Law4AZ training session for Maricopa County’s public 
libraries due to a significant workforce turnover since the last training was offered. It was noted that 

Page 4 of 57



 

3 
 

in the future Shawn Friend will be conducting these training sessions for Maricopa County at the 
Arizona Capitol Building.  
 
Judge Winthrop shared there are plans to have volunteer attorneys provide training sessions to public 
librarians on legal information versus legal advice and also have the volunteer attorneys provide pro 

bono legal services to patrons at the public library. Ms. Ruegg offered to post these opportunities for 
lawyers volunteering at the public libraries on the Online Justice Arizona website. In closing, Ms. 
Fisher reported that law librarians in Arizona are developing a mentoring program to assist public 
librarians and answer questions and provide additional resources relative to providing legal 
information and answering questions for self-represented litigants.  
 
C. Report on AZCourtHelp – Arizona’s Virtual Access and Resource Center 
 
Theresa Barrett updated the Commission on the AZCourtHelp project (virtual court self-help center).  
Update highlights included:  
 Contract finalized with AZFLSE to develop and maintain the website.  
 Mohave County recruited to serve as the first hub and to assist with identifying the necessary 

technological requirements for expansion of the project to other counties. 
 Coconino County Superior Court received funding for the physical resource center’s construction.  

Finally, it was reported that the Task Force continues to explore IV-D funding options with the 
Department of Economic Security to hire a Family Law Facilitator to enhance services offered to 
the public.  

 
D. Report on the Simpla Phi Lex Project 
 
Judge Fink reported that the Self-Represented Litigant in Family Court workgroup created a sub-
workgroup to review Pima County’s Simpla Phi Lex forms and explore adapting Pima County’s 
forms so they can be used by any county in Arizona. Over the course of the sub-workgroup’s 
meetings, the sub-workgroup discovered that there are forms already available that address their 
goals. Accordingly, the sub-workgroup is drafting a formal memorandum to be disseminated 
statewide to inform courts of the variety of materials available for their use. Concurrently, 
commission staff are working on compiling county specific information that can be used to populate a 
generic Simpla Phi Lex template document to provide yet another option for courts to use. 

 
E. Report on the updated “Q&R Handbook” 

Ms. Sekardi reported that feedback and comments were received from commission and workgroup 
members and many of the suggestions were incorporated into the Q&R Handbook in an Adobe PDF 
format. The PDF will have user-friendly navigation features, will be translated into Spanish, and will 
be made available on the court’s intranet and internet page as well as for Legal Information versus 
Legal Advice training.  

 
III. REPORT FROM SRL-LJC WORKGROUP 

A. Forms and instructions for landlord and tenant issues  
 
Mr. Olm reported on the current status of the landlord and tenant informational packets and forms and 
his work with an honors student at Arizona State University recruited to further review the 
information packets. The goal of getting this additional review being to reflect an easier reading level 
for self-represented litigants.  
 

Page 5 of 57



 

4 
 

 
 
 
B. Update on Resources Sub-Workgroup efforts 
 
Mr. Olm next reported on the status of the landlord and tenant informational videos.  Several 
meetings were held to review the working scripts that were discussed at the last commission meeting. 
These scripts are currently being storyboarded and are in the pre-production stages. Members were 
supportive of the animated videos and encouraged further production of them.   
 
C. Update on Maricopa County Justice Courts efforts 

Jeff Fine, Court Administrator for the Maricopa County Justice Courts, updated the commission on 
the efforts underway to improve access to justice in Maricopa’s justice of the peace courts.  Initiatives 
being made by the justice courts include: 

1.  Eviction forms  

In collaboration with the SRL-LJC Workgroup the landlord and tenant forms have been revised to 
have the information that is most important clearly visible on the form.  

2. Eliminating paperwork  

Maricopa County Justice Courts are beta testing delivering information to litigants via email as 
opposed to regular mail as home addresses on citations are frequently wrong. Maricopa County 
Justice Courts are also looking at delivering information, including videos and documents, to litigants 
via text messaging.  

3. Training  

Mr. Fine reported that Maricopa County Justice Courts hired a full time training judge to provide 
training on how to provide legal information to self-represented litigants and to mentor newly hired 
judges. Additionally, the training judge will coordinate monthly training events.  

In addition to the “Best Practices for Assisting Self-Represented Litigants” training that was 
videotaped and is available for all judges in Arizona to view, training for judges on federal subsidized 
housing eviction matters is in the planning stages and will include a Community Legal Services 
Attorney, a landlord attorney, and a judge with direct experience on the topic.  

4. Resources for Litigants 

Mr. Fine reported that a “navigator program” at the Downtown Justice Court Center is being 
implemented in partnership with Community Legal Services. This program provides the opportunity 
for laws students to be “navigators” that provide information and resources to self-represented 
litigants.  

Additionally, Maricopa County Justice Courts are now only using Electronic Document Management 
System (EDMS) for civil cases. The court can connect online resources to court automated systems 
when using EDMS.  

In closing, Mr. Fine requested the commission support training opportunities for court support staff. 
Mr. Fine indicated that staff turnover for front line clerks in the justice courts is significant due to 
budget constraints and low pay, leaving minimally experienced staff as the first contact for litigants 
with questions. Having frequent training for staff, especially in the area of assisting self-represented 
litigants, as well as addressing attrition issues would be very beneficial.   

Page 6 of 57



 

5 
 

 
 

IV. REPORT ON LATEST DEVELOPMENTS IN NON-LAWYER REPRESENTATION 
INTIATIVES 

Judge Kreamer reported on the latest developments in non-lawyer representation initiatives, including 
the recent report from Utah’s Supreme Court Task Force that examined limited license legal 
technicians.  

Judge Kreamer stated the American Bar Association’s (ABA) House of Delegates adopted Resolution 
10, which adopts the ABA Model Regulatory Objectives for the Provision of Legal Services. This 
resolution sets forth a framework for states to discuss non-lawyer representation. These discussions 
from other states will continue to be monitored by members of this commission as well as a task force 
to examine Washington State’s Limited Liability Legal Technician program.  

Judge Winthrop commented that Arizona already has a program to certify legal document preparers 
(Arizona Code of Judicial Administration § 7-201 and 7-208), which is why Arizona is taking a 
conservative approach before aggressively considering implementing a full-fledged licensed 
technician program. He noted that part of the efforts in other states is for non-lawyer advocates to 
prepare documents to file with courts and agencies; Arizona already has that service available.  

V. UPDATE ON LAY LEGAL ADVOCATES 

Ms. Groninger updated the commission on the status of the lay legal advocate’s for domestic violence 
project. Ms. Groninger stated she spoke with anti-poverty advocates in British Columbia who 
provided helpful information and resources about their version of a lay legal advocate program. The 
Arizona Foundation for Legal Services and Education (AZFLSE) along with the Arizona Coalition to 
End Sexual and Domestic Violence will distribute a survey to domestic violence agencies to 
determine if the agencies employ domestic violence advocates and what roles and duties these 
advocates have at the shelter or agency. Once this information is obtained, training should then be 
developed and provided to lay legal advocates. Additionally, AZFLSE’s efforts to obtain funding to 
develop a training event and curriculum for advocates for a potential pilot project are ongoing.  

After an inquiry of a member, Judge Winthrop stated these ongoing reports of the lay legal advocate 
project are in response to this commission’s approval to further explore this project. Additionally, 
Judge Winthrop mentioned the commission has been supportive of exploring this concept but has yet 
to take a position to support continuing/permanent funding for this project.  

VI. PRO BONO SERVICE AND FUNDING WORKGROUP REPORT 

A. Update regarding the Pro Bono Workgroup’s focus and goals 

Judge Kreamer, who has taken over for Barb Dawson as chair for the Pro Bono Workgroup, reported 
that outreach to corporate counsel for involvement with pro bono work is ongoing. Kevin Groman, 
from the Arizona Chapter of the Association of General Counsel, is assisting Judge Kreamer with this 
project but he would like to have more public lawyer involvement in pro bono services.  It was noted 
public lawyers have expressed frustration with not being able to provide legal services because of a 
potential conflict of interest. To address this challenge the State Bar of Arizona is considering 
whether a policy change is needed to clarify what level of involvement public lawyers can have with 
providing pro bono services. 

B. Charitable Tax Report and Report on Outreach Efforts  

Page 7 of 57



 

6 
 

Lara Slifko reported on the 2015 Charitable Tax Report numbers and stated Southern Arizona Legal 
Aid (SALA) had great success with outreach efforts to solicit charitable tax contributions. SALA’s 
high success rate in obtaining donations is attributed to mailings sent to members of the bar in 
SALA’s service area as well as those outside the county. Follow-up phone calls to those who received 
mailings from SALA and calls to each of the donors thanking them for their donation were also made.   

Judge Winthrop thanked the State Bar of Arizona for their listserv emails to remind members of the 
State Bar about the Charitable Tax Credit. Judge Winthrop also thanked Geoffrey Trachtenberg for 
writing a column in the Arizona Attorney Magazine promoting the Charitable Tax Credit.  
 
Finally, it was noted there are two bills currently in the legislature that will have an effect on the 
Charitable Tax Credit; SB1216 and SB1217. 

 
C. Recognition of In-House Counsel of the Year 

Judge Kreamer reported the State Bar of Arizona, through the Arizona Attorney Magazine, will 
devote an entire issue of the magazine to lawyers doing pro bono work around Arizona. Dr. Ruegg 
will also be authoring a piece in the Arizona Attorney Magazine.  
 
Additionally, it was noted the Arizona State Bar Board of Governors has developed a new award to 
recognize pro bono service by in-house counsel.  The first award will be presented at the Arizona 
State Bar Convention in June. 

VII. REVIEW OF COMMISSION PROGRESS ON MANDATES IN ADMINISTRATIVE 
ORDER NO. 2014-83 

Judge Winthrop reviewed the commission’s progress in relation to the mandates in Administrative 
Order 2014-83. He then queried members about what topics they would like this commission to 
review in the future.  

 
Members expressed their interests in exploring the negative impact that fines, fees and assessments 
have on largely low-income people. Mr. Baumstark mentioned that this issue is being reviewed by the 
Conference of Chief Justices and the Conference of State Court Administrators, and that the Arizona 
Supreme Court is currently in the process of creating a task force to look at this issue as well.    
 
Members offered the following additional suggestions for future work: 
 Explore the use of technology to advance access to justice in the courts and legal services, as well 

as possibly creating a technology workgroup. 
 Continue the focus on building relationships with the Arizona Legislators to expand their 

understanding of the role they play in access to justice.  
 Work with the Civil Justice Reform Committee to ensure that there is not duplication of efforts in 

projects to advance access to justice. 
 Build stronger relationships with the tribal courts; especially in the commission’s review of 

editing forms and the use of technology in the courts.  

VIII. OTHER BUSINESS 
 

A. Good of the Order/Call to the Public  
There was no response to a call to the public.  
 
B. Adjournment  
Meeting adjourned at 1:44 p.m.  

Page 8 of 57



 

7 
 

  
C. Next Commission Meeting Date  
May 18, 2016  
10:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m.  
State Courts Building, Conference Room 119A/B, 1501 W. Washington, Phoenix, Arizona 85007 

Page 9 of 57



Page 10 of 57



Arizona Commission on Access to Justice 

Meeting Date: 

May 18, 2016 

Type of Action Requested: 

  Formal action or request 

  Information only 

  Other 

Subject: 

Report on Legal Services 
“triage” Program at ASU’s 
Law School 

From:  Dean of ASU’s Sandra Day O’Connor School of Law 

Presenter:  Douglas Sylvester 

Discussion:   

Dean Sylvester will report on the newly established triage program that will be housed 
at ASU’s newly built law school in Downtown Phoenix. 

Recommended Action or Request (if any):  None at this time. 

Page 11 of 57



Page 12 of 57



Arizona Commission on Access to Justice 

Meeting Date: 

May 18, 2016 

Type of Action Requested: 

  Formal action or request 

  Information only 

  Other 

Subject: 

Overview of work of 
Committee on Civil Justice 
Reform.  

From:  Jennifer Albright 

Presenter:  Don Bivens 

Discussion:  Brief Overview of the Committee on Civil Justice Reform (CJRC).  Overview will 
discuss the charge of the CJRC, the four work groups formed to develop recommendations, 
pilot projects and rule amendments, and the timeline for the CJRC’s work.  The Presenter will 
mention a few subject areas of overlap between ACAJ and CJRC and seek and comments or 
recommendations for ideas to consider. 

Recommended Action or Request (if any):  None at this time. 

Page 13 of 57



Page 14 of 57



Arizona Commission on Access to Justice 
 
Meeting Date:  
 
May 18, 2016 

Type of Action Requested: 
 

  Formal action or request 
 

  Information only 
 

  Other 
 

Subject: 
 
Report on Fair Justice for All 
Task Force  
 
 

 
 
From:  Fair Justice for All Task Force 
 
Presenter:  Dave Byers, AOC Director and Chair of the Fair Justice for All Task Force 
  
Discussion:  Mr. Byers will report on the Fair Justice for All Task Force regarding the work it 
produced over the two day event in April. Some of the work being done by this committee will 
also crossover into the work of the ACAJ.  
 
Recommended Action or Request (if any):  None at this time. 

Page 15 of 57



Page 16 of 57



Arizona Commission on Access to Justice 
 
Meeting Date:  
 
May 18, 2016 

Type of Action Requested: 
 

  Formal action or 
request 
 

  Information only 
 

  Other 
 

Subject: 
 
Report from the SRL-FC 
Workgroup 
 
 
 

 
 
From:  SRL-FC Workgroup 
 
Presenters:  Judge Janet Barton 
 
Discussion: Judge Barton will update the commission on the AmeriCorps project (4 month 
mark), on the Maricopa County Self-Help Center and the Law4AZ Library Project. 
 
Recommended motion:  none at this time.  
 

Page 17 of 57



Page 18 of 57



Arizona Commission on Access to Justice 
 
Meeting Date:  
 
May 18, 2016 

Type of Action Requested: 
 

  Formal action or 
request 
 

  Information only 
 

  Other 
 

Subject: 

Update on 
FAQ/Response/Answer 
Handbook  

 
 
 

 
 
From:  AOC Staff 
 
Presenters:  Theresa Barrett 
 
Discussion:   

Theresa will update the commission on the handbook and its pending translation into 
Spanish.   

Recommended motion: None at this time. 
 
 

Page 19 of 57



Page 20 of 57



Arizona Commission on Access to Justice 
 
Meeting Date:  
 
May 18, 2016 

Type of Action Requested: 
 

  Formal action or request 
 

  Information only 
 

  Other 
 

Subject: 
 
Report from SRL-Limited 
Jurisdiction Courts 
Workgroup 
 
 
 

 
 
From:  SRL-LJC Workgroup 
 
Presenter:  Judge Rachel Torres-Carrillo, Chair 
 
Discussion:  The workgroup met on May 2 at the AOC. Judge Carrillo will update the 
commission on its discussion pertaining to videoconferencing for civil matters in limited 
jurisdiction courts. She will also talk about additional projects that the workgroup would like to 
consider and possibly work on.   
 
Recommended Action or Request (if any):  None at this time. 

Page 21 of 57



Page 22 of 57



Arizona Commission on Access to Justice 
 

Meeting Date:  

 

May 18, 2016 

Type of Action Requested: 
 

  Formal action or 
request 
 

  Information only 
 

  Other 
 

Subject: 
 
Report on the status of 
landlord/tenant videos and 
forms and instruction 
packets 

 
 
 

 
 

From:  AOC Staff 
 
Presenters:  Nick Olm 
 
Discussion:   
 
Nick will report on the status of the information videos and will report on the current 
status of the landlord/tenant forms and instructions packets. 
 
Recommended motion: None at this time. 
 
 

Page 23 of 57



Page 24 of 57



Arizona Commission on Access to Justice 

Meeting Date: 

May 18, 2016 

Type of Action Requested: 

  Formal action or 
request 

  Information only 

  Other 

Subject: 

Proposal to mandate the use 
of eviction notices and forms 
developed by the SRL-LJC 
WG  

From:  AOC Staff 

Presenters:  Mike Baumstark 

Discussion: 

Mike Baumstark will discuss the next steps for these forms and instructions which will 
entail mandating these forms through a Rule petition change. 

Recommended motion: (pending) 

Page 25 of 57



Page 26 of 57



Arizona Commission on Access to Justice 

Meeting Date: 

May 18, 2016 

Type of Action Requested: 

  Formal action or 
request 

  Information only 

  Other 

Subject: 

Presentation on Rule 
Change Petition for 
Change of Judge in 
Eviction Matters (R-16-
0022) 

From:  Ellen Katz, William E. Morris Institute for Justice 

Presenters:  (same) 

Discussion: 

Ellen Katz will present this Rule change petition and request that the commission 
support it. Mark Meltzer from the AOC, will be available to answer provide any 
necessary clarification or to field questions. 

Recommended motion: (pending) 

Page 27 of 57



John Furlong, Bar No. 018356 
General Counsel 
State Bar of Arizona 
4201 N. 24th Street, Suite 100 
Phoenix, AZ 85016-6288 
(602) 340-7236 
J ohn.Furlong@staff.azbar.org 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

IN THE SUPREME COURT 
STATE OF ARIZONA 

9 In the Matter of: 

10 PETITION TO AMEND THE 
RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR 

11 EVICTION ACTIONS 

12 

13 

Supreme Court No. R

PETITION 

14 Pursuant to Rule 28 of the Rules of the Arizona Supreme Court, the State Bar 

15 of Arizona hereby petitions this Court to adopt an amendment to the Rules of 

16 Procedure for Eviction Actions by adding a change of judge rule, as Rule 9( c ). The 

1 7 proposed rule would permit for a change of judge as a matter of right and for cause 

18 in eviction actions in Justice Court. The proposed rule is similar to Rule 133(d) of 

19 the Justice Court Rules of Civil Procedure that permits a change of judge in other 

20 civil cases heard by the Justice Court. In support of this Petition, the Legal Services 

21 Committee of the State Bar states the following: 

22 

23 

I. Statement of Interest 

The Legal Services Committee of the State Bar is a standing committee of the 

24 State Bar comprised of a broad cross-section of attorneys, including the executive 

25 directors of the three legal services programs. The Committee's mission is to work 

1 

Page 28 of 57



1 

2 

3 

4 

on access to justice issues for low-income Arizonan~. The Committee historically 

has had an interest in the rights of tenants in eviction cases. 

II. Background and Purpose of the Proposed Rule Amendment 

5 In 2008, the State Bar of Arizona submitted a Petition to Amend the Rules of 

6 Procedure for Eviction Actions, Supreme Court Number R-07-0023. The proposed 

7 rules were the product of the State Bar Landlord/Tenant Task Force appointed by 

8 the State Bar President. Members of the Legal Services Committee served on the 

9 Task Force. The Task Force members included justices and attorneys representing 

10 tenants and landlords. Included in the petition was a proposed rule for a change of 

11 judge for eviction cases in Justice Court, rule 11 ( e ). The final rules adopted by the 

12 

13 

14 

15 

Supreme Court and effective January I, 2009, did not contain a change of judge rule 

for evictions in Justice Court. 1 

In 2012, the State Bar Petitioned for Approval of Justice Court Rules of Civil 

Procedure. Included in the proposed rules was a change of judge rule. The Court 

16 approved the Justice Court Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 133(d) provides for a 

17 change of judge as a matter of right and for a change of judge if the party believes 

18 the party will not have a fair and impartial trial before the justice. The Justice Court 

19 Rules of Civil Procedure do not apply to evictions. Rule 101 (b ). These rules were 

20 effective January I, 2013. 

21 

22 

23 For cases in Superior Court, the change of judge provision in Rule 42(f) of the 

24 
Arizona Rules of Civil Procedure applies and permits changes of judge as a matter of right 
and for cause. Specifically, Rule I of the Rules of Procedure for Eviction Actions provides 

25 that Rule 42(f) applies to evictions in Superior Court. 

2 

Page 29 of 57



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

In 2013, the State Bar of Arizona filed a petition for the change of judge rule 

using the rule originally proposed in 2008. Supreme Court Number R-13-004 7. The 

Arizona Supreme Court denied the petition. In 2015, the Legal Services Committee 

of the State Bar again proposed a change of judge rule. This time the rule was 

patterned after the general Justice Court Change of Judge Rule. The petition 

submitted by the State Bar of Arizona ultimately had 2 options, one option was the 

rule proposed by the Legal Services Committee and the other option was submitted 

by Judge C. Steven McMurry, Presiding Justice of the Peace of Maricopa County. 

Supreme Court Number R-15-0015. Subsequently, the State Bar of Arizona filed a 

comment proposing a further modification to both options. The Supreme Court 

denied the petition. 

The Legal Services Committee continues to recogmze the need and 

importance of a change of judge rule in eviction cases. While somewhat unusual, 

the Committee again proposes a rule change for eviction cases. Eviction actions, 

one of the most common civil cases heard in Justice Court, continue to be the only 

type of case that has no change of judge rule.2 Petitioner submits the proposed 

change of judge rule for consideration by the Court so that litigants in eviction cases, 

19 2 In addition to eviction cases, the Justice Court Rules of Civil Procedure do not apply 

20 to civil traffic, civil boating, protective orders and injunctions against harassment. Rule 
lOl(b). These other cases have change of judge rules. Changes of judge are permitted in 
orders of protection and injunctions against harassment cases because pursuant to Rule 
1 (A)(2) of the Arizona Rules of Protective Order Procedure, the Arizona Rules of Civil 

22 Procedure apply to those cases, unless specifically inconsistent with the rules. Thus, as 
relevant here, Rule 42(t) applies to those cases, as well. For civil traffic and boating cases, 
Rule 7 of the Rules of Procedure in Civil Traffic and Civil Boating Violation Cases 

24 provides that a change of judge as a matter of right does not apply in these cases except for 

21 

23 

cases consolidated with a criminal matter. 
25 

3 

Page 30 of 57



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

like all other litigants in civil cases heard in Justice Court and eviction litigants in 

Superior Court, have the right to a change of judge. 

III. Proposed Rule Amendment 

The proposed rule, Rule 9( c) is: 

Rule 9(c): Motion for Change of Judge: 

For purposes of this subsection, a lawsuit has only two sides. A 
party or a side, if there is more than one plaintiff or one defendant in a 
lawsuit, may request a change of judge as a matter of right orally or in 
writing. The party or side must request a change of judge as a matter 
of right in the precinct where the lawsuit is pending. The request must 
state that the party or side has not previously requested a change of 
judge in this lawsuit, that the party or side has not waived the party's 
right to change of judge, and that the request is timely. A request is 
timely if it is made prior to or at the time of the first court appearance 
or upon reassignment of the matter to a new judge for trial. A party 
waives a right to a change of judge if the judge has ruled on any 
contested motion or issue, or if the trial has started. When a proper and 
timely request for a change of judge as a matter of right is orally 
requested or filed, the court must transfer the lawsuit to a new judge 
within the county for further proceedings. 

If a party believes that the party will not have a fair and impartial 
trial before a justice of the peace, then the party must proceed as 
provided in Arizona Revised Statutes§ 22-204, except that any request 
must be made by the date of the first court appearance and five days' 
notice is not required. 

Renumber to conform. 

The first paragraph on change of judge as a matter of right is taken from 

current Justice Court Rule 133(d) with minor edits to reflect the practice in Justice 

Court. Similarly, the second paragraph concerning change of judge for cause is 

25 taken from the last sentence in Rule 133(d) but with modifications to reflect the 

4 

Page 31 of 57



1 practice in Justice Court and changes subsequently made to A.R.S. § 22-204 in 
2 

2013. 
3 IV. Explanation of Need for Proposed Rule 
4 

5 
Tenants have a property interest in their residences. Greene v. Lindsey, 456 

U. S. 444, 451-52 (1982). See also Foundation Development Corporation v. 
6 

7 
Loehmann's, 163 Ariz. 438, 442, 788 P.2d 1189, 1193 (Ariz. 1990) (recognizing 

8 
common law right of tenant's property interest in rental). Eviction proceedings that 

deprive tenants of that property must comply with the due process requirements of 
9 

the 14th Amendment to the United States Constitution. Greene, 456 U.S. at 455. 
10 

11 For low-income persons, an eviction action may threaten their only means of 

12 shelter. See, e.g., Chester Hartman and David Robinson, Evictions: The Hidden 

13 Housing Problem, Housing Policy Debate, Vol. 14, Issue 4 (2003) found at 

14 http://content. knowledgeplex.org/kp2/cache/kp/10950.pdf. The inability to find 

15 other housing on short notice can lead to the disruption of children's education, 

16 interruption of employment, dislocation from health care providers, loss of personal 

1 7 belongings and homelessness. In addition, the eviction process may lead to 

18 monetary judgments. These monetary judgments make it difficult for tenants to 

l 9 secure new rental housing. Thus, the consequences of eviction cases make them 

20 very important to tenants and especially low-income tenants, who often lack back-

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

up resources. The result of an eviction may be that a family is living in a car. The 

importance of these cases and the property interest at stake certainly is undercut by 

not allowing a change of judge. 

Although eviction cases have shorter statutory time frames than some of the 

other civil cases heard in Justice Court, these time frames are not a sufficient reason 

5 

Page 32 of 57



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

to deny litigants a right to change judge. If a tenant or a landlord believes that he 

or she cannot get a fair trial before a justice, then they should be allowed as other 

litigants are, to request a change of judge. The change of judge requests can be 

handled like other continuances for cause. As an example, the common practice in 

many Justice Courts is that if a tenant appears on the court date noted in the summons 

and has a defense, the case is continued to another date for a trial. See Rule 11 ( c) of 

the Rules of Procedure for Eviction Actions ( continuances may be granted "on the 

request of a party for good cause shown or to accommodate the demands of the 

court's calendar"); Arizona Residential Landlord and Tenant Act, A.R.S. § 33-

1377(C). The same or similar practice could apply to a change of judge request. 

The following examples highlight the fundamental unfairness of not having a 

change of judge for eviction cases in justice court. Using Maricopa County as an 

example, if a person lives in the Encanto Precinct, all the cases against them will be 
14 

15 

16 

assigned to the one Encanto Justice of the Peace. If a resident in the Encanto Precinct 

is sued on a credit card debt, the person appears before the Encanto Justice and that 

Justice resolves the case. The defendant may think he or she was not treated fairly 
17 

by the Justice. If the person is sued again on another credit card debt 10 months later 
18 

and still lives in the Encanto Precinct, his or her case will be assigned to the same 
19 

Justice. In this situation, the person can request a change of judge under Rule 133( d) 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

of the Justice Court Rules of Civil Procedure. If the person is served an eviction 

action, he or she cannot request a change of judge. This differential treatment is 

unfair and undercuts the public's confidence in our judicial system. 

Second, until recently, several prominent landlord attorneys served as Justices 

of the Peace Pro Tempore in Maricopa County on eviction calendars. While legal 

6 

Page 33 of 57



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

services was told this practice ceased after ethical concerns were raised, in a recent 

case, a landlord attorney served as a Justice of the Peace Pro Tempore on an eviction 

calendar. Consider the case of a legal services attorney who comes to court to 

represent a tenant in an eviction case and finds a Justice of the Peace Pro Tempore 

whose legal practice is primarily representing landlords and property management 

companies. The legal services attorney may not think his or her client can get a fair 

trial before the Justice. Should the legal services attorney have to try the case before 

a Justice Pro Tempore he or she thinks is unfair? If there is no change of judge rule, 

they will. 

Finally, take the case of a tenant who files an appeal of the eviction judgment. 
11 

If the tenant wins the appeal, with no change of judge rule, on remand this case 
12 

would go back to the same justice. Rule 42 (f)(l)(E) of the Rules of Civil Procedure 
13 

recognizes the inherent problem this may create and provides that when on remand 
14 

15 
a new trial is ordered, "then all rights to change of judge are renewed and no event 

connected with the first trial shall constitute a waiver." Certainly, the same reasons 
16 

behind Rule 42 (f)(l) (E) apply in the eviction context. 
17 

18 The reality is that vast majority of tenants who lose their eviction case do not 

19 have an attorney or the resources to file an appeal. For these tenants, the initial trial 

20 is their only opportunity for relief. For all these reasons, the legal services 

21 community continues to request a change of judge rule in eviction cases. 

22 

23 

24 

25 

v. Consistency with the Statutory Scheme and Time Standards 

Objections to the change of judge rule petition previously in 2014 and 2015 

suggested that a change of judge is impractical in rural areas and inferred a dilatory 

7 

Page 34 of 57



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

intent on the part of tenants' rights advocates. To be clear, the State Bar of Arizona 

seeks only parity, that is, a peremptory provision that allows for litigants in eviction 

cases in Justice Court to have the same right to change judge as litigants in eviction 

actions in Superior Court and litigants in other cases in Justice Court. 

Moreover, the annual statistics on where eviction actions take place show the 

limited impact this rule will have on Justice Court administration. The rural precincts 
7 

heard only a fraction of the approximately 86,000 eviction actions filed in Justice 
8 

Courts statewide in 2014. More than 66,000 evictions were filed in Maricopa 
9 

County and another 14,000 were filed m 
10 

11 
http://www.azcourts.gov/Portals/39/2014DR/JPMaricopa.pdf; 

12 https://www.azcourts.gov/Portals/39/2014DR/JPPima.pdf; 

Pima County. 

13 http://www.azcourts.gov I statistics/ AnnualDataReports/2014DataReport/2014Case 

14 ActivitybyCounty.aspx3 This leaves approximately 6,000 evictions throughout the 

15 rest of the state, and even as to those evictions, the vast majority end in default. 

16 Similar filings were reported in 2012 and 2013.4 Thus, this rule affects only that 

17 small minority of tenants who contest the eviction. This Court should not allow 

18 

19 Opponents of a change of judge rule often offer the Duncan Justice Court as an 
example where the change of judge would be hard to implement. But the Duncan Justice 

20 Court received just 8 new eviction actions in the year ending June 30, 2013, only 4 in the 
prior year, and none of those cases proceeded to trial. See http://www.azcourts. 
gov/Portals/39/2013DR/JPGreenlee.pdf#page=5. In the year ending June 30, 2014, only 6 
eviction cases were filed and none went to trial. See https://www. azcourts.gov/Portals/ 
39/2014DR/JPGreenlee.pdf. Thus, during this 3 year period, a change of judge rule would 
have had no impact on court administration. 

21 

22 

23 

24 4 In 2012 and 2013, there were approximately 84,000 evictions filed injustice courts 
with 78,000 filed in Maricopa and Pima Counties. See http://www.azcourts.gov/ 

25 statistics/ AnnualDataReports/2013/DataReport/2013 CaseActivitybyCounty .aspx. 

8 

Page 35 of 57



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

heightened concern for rural precincts to outbalance due process rights of tenants 

statewide. 

In addition, the speedy timeframes of eviction actions are not as unique as 

suggested. Changes of judge are permitted in time-sensitive applications for orders 

of protection and injunctions against harassment in Justice Court. See Rule l(A)(2) 

of the Arizona Rules of Protective Order Procedure ( declaring that the Arizona Rules 
7 

8 
of Civil Procedure apply to those cases "when not inconsistent with these rules.") 

Even in Superior Court, where the change of judge applies in all cases except cases 
9 

in Tax Court, Ariz. R. Civ. P. 42(f)(l)(A), the exercise of a peremptory challenge to 
10 

11 
a judicial officer can delay a request for injunctive relief under Ariz. R. Civ. P. 65, 

particularly in rural counties with limited benches. Courts and administrators can 
12 

13 
adapt in order to ensure the provision of justice and this Court should not presume 

prejudicial delay. 
14 

15 For similar reasons, a decision by this Court in support of a peremptory 

16 judicial challenge is not inconsistent with the provisional "Timing Standards" 

1? supported by the Arizona Judicial Council. The Arizona Judicial Council's 

18 Executive Summary recognizes the appropriate balance of the rights of individual 

19 litigants against the need for case management tools. 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Case processing standards should complement, rather than 
supplant, due process considerations. Waiting periods are 
deliberately built into some court procedures and 
processes in order to preserve parties' rights (e.g., to 
provide adequate notice, to conduct discovery, or to 

9 

Page 36 of 57



1 

2 

3 

receive service of process). 5 

"Excerpt from the Interim Report and Recommendation of the Arizona Case 

4 Processing Standards Steering Committee," September 30, 2013, available at 

5 http://www.azcourts.gov/Portals/84/MeetingMaterials/2013/0ctober/Tab4 AzCaseP 

6 rocStand 2 .pdf. The Arizona Supreme Court in Administrative Order No. 2013-

7 95, on November 14, 2013, provisionally adopted the case processing standards "to 

8 provide local courts and the Administrative Office of the Courts ("AOC") with a 

9 time standards framework for the development and testing of case management 

10 reports." http://www.azcourts.gov/ Portals/zz/admorder.Order13/2013.95. These 

11 provisional case processing standards should not affect the consideration of the 

12 petition. 

13 The provisional resolution standard is to resolve 98% of eviction actions 

14 within 10 days. http://www.azcourts.gov/Portals/22/admorders/Orders13/2013-95. 

15 Whether this provisional standard will be affected by the proposed rule is 

16 speculative. If there is an adverse impact, the Court can anticipate that the impact 

17 would be relatively small, given the paucity of eviction trials and the heavy volume 

18 of default judgments. 6 Using the provisional standard that 2% of the evictions would 

19 

We would add, in the eviction context, the right to a three-day continuance in Justice 
Court. See Rule 11 ( c) of the Rules of Procedure for Eviction Actions ( continuances may 
be granted "on the request of a party for good cause shown or to accommodate the demands 

22 of the court's calendar") and the Arizona Residential Landlord and Tenant Act, A.R.S. § 
33-1377(C); see also A.R.S. § 12-1177(C) (permitting up to three days for a continuance 
in Justice Court actions). 

20 

21 

23 

24 

25 

6 In addition, it is not the case that currently all eviction trials occur within the three 
day time frame for continuances in A.R.S. § 12-l l 77(C). Either party can request a trial 
by jury (Rule 12 of the Rules of Procedure for Eviction Actions) and file motions, 

10 

Page 37 of 57



1 not be resolved within 10 days, for the 86,000 evictions filed in 2014 that would be 

2 1, 720 cases. The Committee sincerely doubts that the change of judge rule would 

3 impact this number of cases. The State Bar of Arizona supports the efforts of the 

4 Judicial Council to move cases forward faster for the benefit of the litigants and the 

5 justice system as a whole, but those efforts can and should take into account the 

6 substantive rights of the individual litigants as well. The proposed rule does that for 

7 eviction litigants. 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

CONCLUSION 

The State Bar of Arizona submits this petition again because of the importance 

of this issue. The proposed rule removes the disparity of a lack of change of judge 

rule for eviction actions in Justice Court. Eviction court litigants should have the 

same right to a change of judge as a matter of right and for cause as other civil 

litigants in Justice Court and Superior Court. 

Finally, if the Court has concerns about the effect the rule change will have 

on justice court administration, as an alternative, the State Bar of Arizona proposes 

including motions to amend, for judgment on the pleadings, to dismiss, for 
reconsideration and other appropriate motions with a reasonable opportunity to respond 
before a ruling by the court (Rule 9 of the Rules of Procedure for Eviction Actions). The 
parties also can request disclosure of evidence, taking of depositions, production of 
documents, inspection of the property and issuance of subpoenas (Rule 10 of the Rules of 
Procedure for Eviction Actions). While jury trials, discovery and motion practice are not 
common, they are allowed and all of the justice courts accommodate these requests, even 
those in the rural counties. There is no reason that a request for a change of judge similarly 
cannot be accommodated. 

11 

Page 38 of 57



1 an approval period of one year. · A limited approval period will give all sides 

2 sufficient time to see what effects, if any, the rule change has on court administration. 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

For all these reasons, Petitioner requests the Court approve this petition. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this __ day of ______ ., 2016. 

John Furlong 
General Counsel 

12 Electronic copy filed with the 

13 Clerk of the Arizona Supreme Court 
this day of ________ , 2016. 

14 
by: 15 ----------~ 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

12 

Page 39 of 57



Hon. C. Steven McMurry, on behalf of the 
Committee on Limited Jurisdiction Courts 
C/o Administrative Office of the Courts 
1501 W. Washington St., Ste. 410 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 

IN THE SUPREME COURT 
 

STATE OF ARIZONA 
 
In the Matter of:     )     Supreme Court No. R-16-0022 
       ) 

PETITION TO ADOPT RULE 9.1,   )     Comment from the LJC Opposing 
RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR   ) the Petition 
EVICTION ACTIONS    ) 
___________________________________  ) 
 
 This comment is submitted on behalf of the Committee on Limited 

Jurisdiction Courts (the “LJC”), which authorized the undersigned committee 

member at its February 24, 2016 meeting to file a comment in opposition to this 

rule petition. 

 I. Introduction. The LJC opposes the proposed amendment because the 

amendment is impractical and unnecessary.  The amendment is not prudent 

because it would make it difficult for a number of justice courts to comply with 

statutory requirements and with this Court’s time standards.  If adopted, the 

amendment would likely have an adverse impact upon tenants. 

1 
 

Page 40 of 57



II. The Proposed Rule Amendment Is Impractical and Unnecessary.  

Undersigned’s courtroom is in a courthouse in central Phoenix.  Five justice court 

precincts share that location, which has a combined clerical area and a corridor of 

interconnected judicial chambers.  In the past five years, these five urban courts 

have processed approximately 60,000 eviction cases.  Each of those five judges 

will honor a change of judge in an eviction case, even though there is no current 

rule.   No judge wants to hear a case in which his or her objectivity is in question, 

and in those infrequent cases in which a change of judge might be appropriate, a 

change of judge will occur without a rule, often at the initiation of the judge. The 

court accommodates a change of judge request by immediately transferring the 

matter to one of the other four judges in the building.  The receiving judge of a 

transferred eviction action in the central Phoenix courthouse is typically able to 

address it quickly, and a change of judge does not result in a delay in this 

courthouse.   

On the other hand, isolated rural courts cannot easily make similar 

accommodations to fulfill a change of judge request in an eviction action.  It may 

be similarly difficult for stand-alone urban courts to readily accommodate a change 

of judge request.  These courts do not have the luxury of having another judge or 

judges down the hallway.  Court administration in stand-alone urban and rural 

justice of the peace courts will have to locate and arrange for a new judge.  That 

2 
 

Page 41 of 57



could take days, and depending on the location, it might not happen quickly.   A 

change of judge request could quickly gain the perception of an easy way to delay 

an eviction proceeding. 

 III. The Proposed Rule Change is Not Prudent. The Arizona Judicial 

Council has approved a time standard that requires 98% of eviction filings in 

justice courts to be resolved by a judgment or dismissal within ten days of filing.  

Unlike some of the other time standards, the eviction standard has not been 

controversial because it results directly from the requirements of Arizona law.  An 

eviction case must be set for trial no less than six days from the date of filing 

(A.R.S. § 33-1377 (B).)  The court can continue the case for an additional three 

days (A.R.S. § 12-1177(C).)  Thus, legally the court must resolve the eviction case 

within nine days of filing. 

 If the Court adopts this proposal, resolution of an increased number of 

eviction actions within nine days will not be possible, at least for isolated rural 

courts, and most likely for stand-alone urban courts as well. This proposal, if 

adopted, could make it very difficult for some justice courts to be compliant with 

Arizona statutory requirements concerning evictions, or could make it difficult for 

justice courts to meet this Court’s time standards for case disposition. 

 IV. The Proposed Rule Change Will Likely Have An Adverse Impact 

Upon Tenants. The Petition is this matter is written from a tenant perspective, and 

3 
 

Page 42 of 57



argues that the change it seeks will help tenants.  The LJC, however, is convinced 

that the advocates for the proposed rule change have incorrectly analyzed the 

dynamics of the situation.  The proposed rule change will adversely affect tenants. 

 It is very rare for a tenant to be represented in an eviction action; 

representation probably occurs in less than 1% of the cases.  An unrepresented or 

self represented tenant is unlikely to know much about the Rules.  Even if the 

tenant knew about a Rule authorizing a change of judge, the tenant would also 

need substantial knowledge and sophistication regarding the court system to have a 

reliable opinion about whether exercising the right to an automatic change of judge 

was likely to gain the tenant a judge more sympathetic to his situation.  It will, 

therefore, be a very rare situation in which an automatic change of judge will 

benefit the tenant. 

 On the other hand, the lawyers representing landlords in eviction 

proceedings are "frequent flyers" in the court system.  They talk to each other, and 

they all know which judge is perceived to be "pro tenant".  They also know the 

rules.  It is far, far more likely that the proposed rule change will be used by these 

attorneys to remove eviction cases from "pro tenant" judges.   

V. Conclusion.  The LJC includes justices of the peace from urban and rural 

jurisdictions across Arizona. The LJC believes that the State Bar may not have 

consulted any justice of the peace who is a State Bar member, or any attorney who 

4 
 

Page 43 of 57



routinely represents plaintiffs in justice court evictions, prior to filing this rule 

petition.  These stakeholders oppose the proposed rule change. This proposed rule 

change is unnecessary, impractical, and imprudent. It will have an adverse impact 

upon tenants. The Court should decline to adopt it. 

 RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 25th day of April, 2016 

 
 

By /s/ _________________________________ 
      Hon. C. Steven McMurry, on behalf of the 

Committee on Limited Jurisdiction Courts 
      C/o Administrative Office of the Courts 
     1501 W. Washington Street, Suite 410 
      Phoenix, AZ 85007 
          
           
 
Copy of this comment 
Emailed this 17 day of 
April, 2016 to: 
 
John A. Furlong, Esq.     

5 
 

Page 44 of 57



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 1 

PROPOSED REPLY SUBMITTED BY THE STATE BAR’S 
LEGAL SERVICES COMMITTEE      
          
 

IN THE SUPREME COURT 
 

 STATE OF ARIZONA  
 

PETITION TO AMEND THE RULES OF 
PROCEDURE FOR EVICTION 
ACTIONS 

 Supreme Court No. R-16-0022 

Response to Comments to Petition to 
Amend the Rules of Procedure for 
Eviction Actions 
 
 

 
 Pursuant to Rule 28 of the Rules of the Supreme Court, the Legal Services 

Committee of the State Bar, respectfully responds to comments submitted in opposition 

to the Petition to Amend the Rules of Procedure for Eviction Actions by adding a change 

of judge rule, as Rule 9(c).  The proposed rule would permit for a change of judge as a 

matter of right and for cause in eviction actions in Justice Court.  The proposed rule is 

similar to Rule 133(d) of the Justice Court Rules of Civil Procedure that permits a change 

of judge in other civil cases heard by the justice courts. As discussed in the petition, 

eviction cases in justice court are the only civil cases in justice or superior courts without 

a change of judge rule.   The Legal Services Committee thinks Arizona courts should 

provide an opportunity for a change judge as a matter of right in all cases as a matter of 

fundamental fairness.  Thus, this petition raises issues of access to justice.   

The Committee on Limited Jurisdiction Courts (“LJC”) submitted a comment 

opposing the petition.  The LJC opposes the petition for four primary reasons.  The LJC 

claims the amendment is impractical, unnecessary, not prudent and that it will likely have 

an adverse impact on tenants. As explained below, the Legal Services Committee 

disputes these claims.    

For its assertion that the rule is not needed, the LJC claims the central courthouse 

in Phoenix with five courtrooms will honor a change of judge request because “[n]o 

Page 45 of 57



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 2 

judge wants to hear a case in which his or her objectivity is in question.” 1  The LJC, 

however, fails to explain how a litigant would even know such a procedure is available.  

This informal policy referenced by the LJC is unknown to litigants and legal services 

attorneys and does not extend beyond those courts. Moreover, if it is the case that no 

judge wants to hear a case where his or her objectivity is called into question, then the 

Legal Services Committee of the State Bar questions why the LJC is opposed to the 

petition.  As fully explained in the petition, there is a need for the change of judge 

procedure for eviction cases in a public rule that extends to all justice courts. 

 For its assertion of impracticality, the LJC claims that “isolated rural courts” 

cannot “easily” accommodate requests and stand-alone urban courts “may” find it 

difficult to “readily” accommodate a change of judge request.  The Legal Services 

Committee thinks the number of change of judge requests in rural courts will be few as 

there are a minute number of eviction cases filed in these courts, even fewer cases where 

the tenant comes to court and an even smaller percentage of those litigants who may seek 

a change of judge request.2  While the number of evictions filed in urban courts may be 

higher, given the large number of default judgments in eviction cases, the change of 

judge requests should not significantly impact the justice court administration.  

Significantly, the LJC fails to provide any information on how many change of judge 

requests are filed in rural or stand-alone urban courts for other types of cases.  The LJC 

presents no data on this issue and instead relies on speculation.  To address this 

speculation, the Legal Services Committee has suggested a one-year limit on the rule 

change to see if the rule change, in fact, presents widespread administrative issues.  If the 

                                                 
1  In Pima County, the second largest county, all eviction cases are heard in a 
consolidated justice court.   
2  As an example, during the prior 3 years ending June 30, 2014, a total of only 18 
eviction cases were filed in the Duncan Justice Court.  None of those cases went to trial.  
See http://www.azcourts.gov/Portals/39/2013DR/JPGreenlee.pdf; www.azcourts.gov/ 
Portals/39/2014DR/JPGreenlee.pdf.  Thus, the proposed rule change would have had no 
effect on justice court administration in the Duncan Justice Court over that 3 year period.   
 

Page 46 of 57



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 3 

rule change is promulgated on a one year basis, this will give the LJC sufficient time to 

document any actual widespread administrative issues.  If such evidence is produced, 

then the Legal Services Committee of the State Bar and the Court can address those 

matters.  The LJC did not address the proposed one year limitation or explain why it is 

not an appropriate alternative.   

 The LJC also claims the amendment is not “prudent.”  The LJC cites to the 

Arizona Judicial Council resolution standard and claims it will not be possible to meet 

this standard in “isolated rural courts” and “most likely” in stand-alone urban courts.  The 

LJC provides only speculation on impact and, again, provides no data in support. As 

noted above, the one-year limit on the rule change will give the justice courts time to 

provide this data.  Moreover, as explained in the petition, the case processing standards 

are intended to provide the courts with a framework for the development and testing of 

case management reports and are intended to compliment, not supplant due process 

considerations.  These standards are not set in stone, should be able to accommodate the 

change of judge requests and can be tweaked if necessary. The one year limit will provide 

everyone an opportunity to see what effect, if any, the change of judge rule has on 

processing standards and judicial administration.   

 Finally, the LJC claims the amendment “will likely” have an adverse impact on 

tenants.  The LJC claims that tenants are unrepresented 99% of the time and will not 

know about this rule, and if a tenant did know about the rule, he or she would not have 

the “knowledge” and “sophistication” to use it.  The Legal Services Committee knows of 

no other situation where such a claim is considered a valid reason to not promulgate a 

procedural rule.  Certainly it was not a valid reason to not have change of judge 

provisions in Rule 42 of the Rules of Civil Procedure or Rule 133 of the Justice Court 

Rules of Procedure.  It is not a valid reason in this case either.  This rule simply brings 

parity to eviction cases with other civil cases heard in justice court and eviction cases 

(and all other civil cases) heard in superior court that have a change of judge rule. 

Page 47 of 57



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 4 

 The LJC also suggests that some landlord attorneys will use the rule more than 

tenants.  This claim, as well, is speculation.  The claim also appears to go against the 

landlords’ interests for the speediest resolution of cases because the LJC speculates that 

the change of judge request could “gain the perception of an easy way to delay” the 

proceedings.  

Moreover, the LJC states that no justice of the peace or landlord attorney was 

consulted about this rule change before the petition was filed and they oppose the rule 

change.  This claim is not correct.  The LJC comments were submitted by Maricopa 

County Justice Steven McMurry who attended the Board of Governors meeting where 

this petition was discussed and voted upon and provided testimony in opposition to the 

petition.  In addition, Maricopa County Justice Gerald Williams attended the State Bar 

Rules Committee meeting and provided testimony against the rule change and submitted 

a letter written by Justice McMurry.   In his remarks to the Board of Governors, Justice 

McMurry stated that the landlord bar did not oppose the petition.  The record is clear that 

this petition was fully vetted at the State Bar. 

 Conclusion 

 For all these reasons, the Legal Services Committee of the State Bar requests that 

the Court approve the petition, and if there are concerns about the effect the petition may 

have on justice court administration that the Court limit the rule change to one year.  That 

limitation will provide sufficient time for the justice courts to collect data on the number 

of change of judge requests, where these requests arise and the effects, if any, the 

requests have on judicial administration. This process also will address the issue of 

fundamental fairness for litigants in eviction cases and access to justice.     

 Respectfully submitted this ___ day of May 2016. 

     LEGAL SERVICES COMMITTEE OF THE 
         STATE BAR 
 
 
     By   /s/Ellen Sue Katz     
 Ellen Sue Katz 

Page 48 of 57



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 5 

 William E. Morris Institute for Justice 
 3707 North Seventh Street, Suite 220 
 Phoenix, Arizona 85014-5095 
  
 
 
 
Original electronically filed with the 
Clerk of the Supreme Court of Arizona 
this ___ day of May 2016. 
 
 
By:  /s/ Ellen Sue Katz  

Page 49 of 57



Page 50 of 57



Arizona Commission on Access to Justice 

Meeting Date: 

May 18, 2016 

Type of Action Requested: 

  Formal action or 
request 

  Information only 

  Other 

Subject: 

Report from Pro Bono 
Service and Funding 
Workgroup 

From:  Pro Bono Service and Funding Workgroup 

Presenters:  Judge Joseph Kreamer 

Discussion: Judge Kreamer (and Kevin Ruegg) will update the commission on the 
workgroup’s meeting that took place on May 5. 

Recommended motion: (possible motion pending) 

Page 51 of 57



Page 52 of 57



Arizona Commission on Access to Justice 

Meeting Date: 

May 18, 2016 

Type of Action Requested: 

  Formal action or 
request 

  Information only 

  Other 

Subject: 

American Bar Association 
Telephone Workgroups 
Update 

From:  American Bar Association Telephone Workgroup 

Presenters:  Dr. Kevin Ruegg, ACAJ member 

Discussion:  Dr. Ruegg will update the commission on the Self-Help Services and 
Courtroom Innovations Working Group that was established the American Bar 
Association and the Self-Represented Litigation Network. The workgroups have monthly 
conference calls and Dr. Ruegg will provide information on the content of those phone 
calls. 

Recommended motion: None at this time. 

Page 53 of 57



Page 54 of 57



Fifty-second Legislature As Transmitted to the Governor 

Second Regular Session 

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES 

SB 1216 

charitable donations; tax credit amounts 

Prime Sponsor: Senator Yarbrough, LD 17 

DP Committee on Ways and Means 

DPA Caucus and COW 

X As Transmitted to the Governor 

OVERVIEW 

SB 1216 increases the amount a taxpayer may claim as a tax credit for contributions made to a 

charitable organization.   

PROVISIONS 

1. Increases the amount of tax credit a taxpayer may claim for contributions to a qualifying

charitable organization from $200 to $400 for individuals and $400 to $800 for married

couples.

2. Increases the amount of tax credit a taxpayer may claim for contributions to a foster care

charitable organization from $400 to $500 for individuals and from $800 to $1000 for

married couples.

3. Allows a taxpayer to receive separate tax credits for voluntary cash contributions to a

qualifying charitable organization and to a qualifying foster care charitable organization.

4. Contains a retroactive effective date of January 1, 2016.

CURRENT LAW 

A taxpayer may receive a tax credit for up to $200 for individuals and $400 for married couples 

for making voluntary cash contributions to a qualifying charitable organization.  The cap rises to 

$400 for individuals and $800 for married couples if the organization is a qualifying foster care 

charitable organization.  Taxpayers are required to report the name of the charitable organization 

and the amount of contribution to the Department of Revenue (DOR).  Each qualifying 

charitable organization is required to provide DOR with a written certification that it meets all 

the criteria to be considered a qualifying charitable organization.  Qualifying charitable 

organization is defined as a nonprofit organization that spends at least 50% of its budget on 

services to residents.  Qualifying foster care charitable organization is defined as a qualifying 

charitable organization that provides services to at least 200 foster children and spends at least 

50% of its budget on services to foster children (A.R.S. 43-1088).   

Page 55 of 57



Page 56 of 57



Fifty-second Legislature  As Transmitted to the Governor   

Second Regular Session   

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES 

SB 1217 

charitable tax credit; contribution date 

Prime Sponsor: Senator Yarbrough, LD 17 

 

DP Committee on Ways and Means  

DP Caucus and COW 

X As Transmitted to the Governor  

OVERVIEW 

SB 1217 allows a tax credit for contributions made to a charitable organization to be applied to 

the current or preceding taxable year, if made on or before April 15
th

.   

PROVISIONS 

1. Allows a tax credit for contributions made to a charitable organization, on or before April 

15th, to be applied to the current or preceding taxable year. 

2. Contains a retroactive effective date of January 1, 2016.   

3. Makes conforming changes. 

CURRENT LAW 

A taxpayer may receive a tax credit for up to $200 for individuals and $400 for married couples 

for making voluntary cash contributions to a qualifying charitable organization.  The cap rises to 

$400 for individuals and $800 for married couples if the organization is a qualifying foster care 

charitable organization.  Taxpayers are required to report the name of the charitable organization 

and the amount of contribution to the Department of Revenue (DOR).  Each qualifying 

charitable organization is required to provide DOR with a written certification that it meets all 

the criteria to be considered a qualifying charitable organization. 

 

 

Page 57 of 57


	1. Agenda
	2. Draft Minutes from 02/17/2016
	3. Report on Legal Services "triage" Program at ASU's Law School
	4. Overview of work of Committee on Civil Justice Reform
	5. Report on Fair Justice for All Task Force
	6. Report from the SRL-FC Workgroup
	7. Update on FAQ/Response/Answer Handbook
	8. Report from SRL-Limited Jurisdiction Courts Workgroup
	9. Report on the status of landlord/tenant videos and forms and instruction packets
	10. Proposal to mandate the use of eviction notices and forms developed by the SRL-LJC WG
	11. Presentation on Rule Change Petition for Change of Judge in Eviction Matters (R-16-0022)
	11a. Petition
	11b. Comment from LJC
	11c. Proposed Reply by the State Bar's Legal Services Committee

	12. Report from Pro Bono Service and Funding Workgroup
	13. American Bar Association Telephone Workgroups Update
	14. SB1216 Senate Fact Sheet
	15. SB1217 Senate Fact Sheet



